STATE OF NEW YORK
INDUSTRIAL BOARD OF APPEALS

-------------------------------------------------------------------x
In the Matter of the Petition of:
NANN.OO,
Petitioner,
DOCKET NO. PR 18-063
To Review Under Section 101 of the Labor Law:
An Order to Comply with Article 19 of the Labor
Law, dated August 21, 2018,

RESOLUTION OF DECISION

- against THE COMMISSIONER OF LABOR,
Respondent.

------------------------------------------------------------------x
APPEARANCES
C. Jonathan Chen, Esq., New York, for petitioner.

Pico P. Ben-Amotz, General Counsel, NYS Department of Labor, Albany (Joan K. Harris of
counsel), for respondent.
WITNESSES

Darryl Kuebler, Sajid Ali Shamji, Sham Mohammed, Nyan Win Khin, Nan Nay Chi Oo, for
petitioner.
Senior Labor Standards Investigator Erny Bautista, Alfredo Hidalgo, for respondent.

WHEREAS:

Petitioner Nan N. Oo (hereinafter "Oo") filed a petition in this matter on October 15,
2018, pursuant to Labor Law § 101, seeking review of an order issued against her by respondent
Commissioner of Labor on August 21, 2018. Respondent filed her answer to the petition on
November 15, 2018.
Upon notice to the parties a hearing was held in this matter on February 19, 2019, in New
York, New York before Gloribelle J. Perez, Member of the Board, and the designated hearing
officer in this proceeding. Each party was afforded a full opportunity to present documentary
evidence, to examine and cross-examine witnesses, and to make statements relevant to the issues.
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The order to comply with Article 19 (hereinafter "minimum wage order") under review
directs compliance with Article 19 and payment to respondent for unpaid wages to Alfredo
Hidalgo in the amount of $28,782.34 for the time period from March 23, 2007 through April 13,
2012, interest continuing thereon at the rate of 16% calculated to the date of the order in the
amount of $29,283.86, liquidated damages in the amount of $28,782.34, assesses a 100% civil
penalty in the amount of $28,782.34, and assesses a separate civil penalty for violations of Labor
Law Section 661 and Department of Labor Regulations (12 NYCRR) Part 142-2.6 in the amount
of $2,000.00, for a total amount due of$117,630.88.
Petitioner alleges that the order is invalid and unreasonable because she was not the
claimant's employer during the claim period.
Aung A. Myat, Tee Time Trading Inc. and NNR Trading (US) Inc. were also named in
the minimum wage order but as of the date of this decision, have not filed petitions with the
Board and are not parties in this proceeding.

SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE

Testimony of Darryl Kuebler
Darryl Kuebler (hereinafter "Kuebler") is a field service technician for screen-printing
equipment and driers. Most of the equipment that he sells, installs and services is used by t-shirt
printing and paper printing companies. Kuebler has done this work for 35 years. Kuebler services
equipment owned by Oo. The equipment owned by Oo was previously owned by a person named
Aung, who goes by the name Al. Kuebler testified that from about 2002 until April 2012, Al
owned a business that went by the name N&R 1 Trading or some similar name that was located at
42-33 24th Street in Long Island City. Kuebler serviced the screen-printing equipment in that
location the entire time that Al owned it and when it was owned by a previous owner dating back
to the 1990s. Kuebler testified that Alfredo Hidalgo (hereinafter "Hidalgo") worked at that
location under the previous owner and under Al as a production manager. No one told Kuebler
that Hidalgo's title was that of production manager nor did he see that title written anywhere for
Hidalgo but based on how he saw him work, he assumed that was his role. Kuebler testified that
Hidalgo was "[b]asically the boss on the floor and all the subordinates would work under him."
Kuebler reported to Hidalgo to find out what the problem with the equipment was. Kuebler
testified that about 6-8 people worked under Hidalgo while Hidalgo worked at the Long Island
City location and that for the entire time that Al owned the shop, Hidalgo was the production
manager and the most experienced person at the shop. When Al owned the Long Island City
shop, Hidalgo reported to Al. Al is also the person who would pay Kuebler for his services.
Kuebler testified that Oo worked in the art department at Al's shop as a graphic artist, producing
the art for screens that would be printed onto t-shirts. Oo never called Kuebler to service
machines when she worked for Al's shop. She never paid Kuebler for his services. She worked
in the art department office of the shop and Kuebler testified that she was not in charge of the
shop. Kuebler did not recall ever seeing Oo and Hidalgo interact. Kuebler did not see Oo very

1

The Board notes that NNR Trading and N&R Trading are the same entities for purposes of this decision. The
transcript includes N&R Trading as stated in testimony whereas documentary evidence references NNR Trading.
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often toward the end of the period from March 2007 to April 2012, but if she was in the art
department office, he would not necessarily have seen her.
Kuebler helped move the screen-printing equipment from Long Island City, Queens to
Woodside, Queens in March and April 2012. On April 10, 2012, he signed off on the equipment
being ready for operation at the Woodside location. The first time he was called to service the
equipment at the Woodside location, he learned that Oo was the owner of the shop at that
location. He never saw Al again after the equipment was moved to Woodside.
Testimony ofSajid Ali Shamji

Sajid Ali Shamji (hereinafter "Shamji") has owned a t-shirt distribution company for
about five years and he has worked in the t-shirt distribution industry for more than 20 years.
During the relevant period, Shamji worked for Roochi Traders as the Vice President of Sales.
Shamji was familiar with the subject Long Island City t-shirt printing company since 1999 or
2000, when it was owned by Eric Lamb and he continued providing services to the company
after it was purchased by someone named Aung, known as Al. When Al owned it, the company
was named N&R Trading. Roochi Traders provided t-shirts to N&R Trading, who would print
on the t-shirts and sell the printed t-shirts. Shamji only dealt with Al when Al owned N&R
Trading. Shamji would go to the Long Island City shop to collect payment from Al, sometimes
as often as once per week. Shamji saw Oo at the shop, sitting at a computer making designs.
Shamji believed Oo was a graphic designer for Al's company. Shamji does not know Hidalgo.
Shamji only knew Al as the person in charge at the shop. Toward the end of the period from
March 2007 to April 2012, Shamji did not see Oo at the shop.
Testimony ofSham Mohammed

Sham Mohammed (hereinafter "Mohammed") owns a business selling screen printing
supplies such as ink for printing on t-shirts, emulsions, and other supplies. He has owned his own
company, called S&S Solutions, since 2013. Prior to that, he worked for Xenon Products
(hereinafter "Xenon"), a company in the same industry, for 12½ years. Mohammed knows the
subject Long Island City company as Tee Time. While working for Xenon Products, in around
2003, Mohammed began selling supplies to Tee Time. Aung, the owner of Tee Time, would
place the orders and would pay for the orders on checks that said N &R. Mohammed visited
weekly to deliver the supplies until sometime in about 2011, when Tee Time stopped ordering
supplies and Mohammed went to visit it and found the shop locked. Mohammed testified that
Hidalgo was in charge of the place and would open the gate so Mohammed could drive in to
deliver supplies. Hidalgo would sign the bill of lading for the supplies. At some point, Aung's
checks to Xenon often did not clear, so Xenon would give Aung a 30-day credit and every two
weeks Aung would stop by Xenon's offices and pay for his orders in cash. Mohammed saw Oo a
few times at Tee Time. He generally did not interact with her but sometimes he would knock on
the office door and give Oo films that Tee Time purchased. Oo never paid Mohammed for the
products Tee Time purchased from Xenon.
For two months during summer 2009, Mohammed began working for Tee Time on
Saturdays to show the workers the correct process for screen printing. Aung told Mohammed
that Hidalgo was the shop manager and that he was in charge and Mohammed would work under
him. Most of the workers on the printing floor only spoke Spanish and Hidalgo spoke Spanish
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and English so Hidalgo gave instructions to the other workers. Aung hired Mohammed to work
at the shop and Aung paid Mohammed his salary in cash. Mohammed only saw Oo about two
times at Tee Time on the Saturdays that he worked during the two months that he worked there.
Testimony ofNyan Win Khin

Nyan Khin (hereinafter "Khin") is married to Nan Oo and he works at Oo's silkscreen
printing and t-shirt company. In 2007, Khin was hired by Al to work part-time for N&R Trading,
located in Long Island City, helping with deliveries. He usually only worked for an hour or two
during several days a week. Khin continued doing that part-time work for N&R Trading in 2008
and for one, two or three months in 2009. Khin received W-2 forms for 2007, 2008 and 2009
from N&R Trading that including his earnings and Oo's earnings because Oo did not have a
social security number at the time. Khin saw Hidalgo at N&R Trading when he went there from
2007 to 2009. He understood Hidalgo to be the head of production. Khin did not interact with
Hidalgo much because Khin was often out doing deliveries when he was working. Khin was
often not there at the same time as Oo. He did not observe interactions between Oo and Hidalgo
during the relevant period.
Testimony of Nan Nay Chi Oo

Oo is a graphic designer. From spring 2007 to the beginning of 2010, Oo worked for
Aung Myat's shop, Tee Time. Aung Myat is also known as Al. After she stopped working for
Al's shop in the beginning of 2010, she went back to her country for a month and when she
returned to the United States, she went to California to learn how to be a sushi chef. In early
2011, she opened a sushi store inside of a grocery store under a sushi franchisee company. Oo
did not work very much in 2010 and until she opened the sushi store in about February 2011. A
franchise agreement dated January 10, 2011 reflects that Oo was to operate a sushi store located
in Great Neck, NY. Oo had a W-2 statement from the sushi store that she testified that she
operated in 2011 that reflects that she earned $5,400.00. She only operated the sushi store in
2011. In May 2012, Oo paid $20,000.00 cash to Al, of NNR Trading, for the t-shirt printing
equipment that she purchased and relocated from Long Island City to Woodside for her t-shirt
production company, White Lotus. She borrowed the $20,000.00 from friends.
Oo did not have a social security number while she worked at Tee Time, so Al included
her pay for her work on her husband's W-2 form. Al would pay Oo in cash or check on N&R
checks. She was paid for the design she created not a wage rate. Oo made her own schedule
while working at Tee Time based on when requests for designs were made. After Oo made a
design on the computer, she would usually give it to Al, who would give it to the production
workers.
While Oo worked at Tee Time, Al had the authority to hire and fire. Oo did not have the
authority to hire or fire anyone. Oo never paid Hidalgo any wages while she worked at Tee
Time. Oo did not know what day Hidaglo was paid for his work at Tee Time. Oo did not know
how the production workers were scheduled and they were usually already there when she
arrived and were still there when she left so she did not know their arrival or departure times.
When Oo first started working at Tee Time, she would check on the production of the t-shirts
from the design she created to make sure it was correct, but she usually just showed Al what the
design should look like and Al or Hidalgo would supervise the production.
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Testimony ofSupervising Labor Standards Investigator Erny Bautista

Erny Bautista (hereinafter "Bautista") supervised the investigation in this matter. Bautista
testified that the only documentary evidence that the respondent received regarding Oo's claim
that she was not an employer for Tee Time was the bill of sale showing she bought the printing
equipment. Bautista testified that while the date in the bill of sale is consistent with when White
Lotus became incorporated, it is not sufficient evidence to show that Oo was not an employer at
Tee Time.
Testimony ofAlfredo Hidalgo

Hidalgo began working at Tee Time before it became Tee Time in 2004 or 2005. He
continued working for the company until 2013. Hidalgo would make the frames for designs or
pictures to be put in machines, run them in the machines to print onto t-shirts, wash the frames,
and restock t-shirts, among other things. Hidalgo identified Oo as someone that he and other
workers knew as Niche. Tee Time changed names and moved at some point before 2013 but it
was the same employer. Hidalgo testified that Niche was his boss and she had been since she
bought the company in 2004 or 2005. She would give him the designs to create the printing
frames and lists of things that he needed to paint. She would send him to make deliveries. Niche
paid Hidalgo every Saturday in cash. Hidalgo initially earned $550.00 per week and then his pay
increased to $700.00 per week. Niche told Hidalgo to work from 8:00 a.m. until 6:00 p.m.
Hidalgo called Niche if he could not come to work. Al was another person who worked in the
office with Niche at Tee Time, but he did not supervise as much as Niche. Al was not around
very much. Hidalgo testified that he did not know if Al actually worked at Tee Time because he
was not sure what he actually did for work. Niche handled everything there. Hidalgo testified
that Niche hired and fired people and that he saw her fire people.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Board makes the following findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to the
provisions of the Industrial Board of Appeals Rules of Procedure and Practice (hereinafter
"Board Rules") (12 NYCRR) § 65.39.
Petitioner's burden of proof in this matter was to establish by a preponderance of the
evidence that the order issued by the Commissioner is invalid or unreasonable (State
Administrative Procedure Act § 306 [1]; Labor Law §§ 101, 103; Board Rules [12 NYCRR] §
65.30; Garcia v Heady, 46 AD3d 1088, 1090 [3d Dept 2007]; Matter ofAngello v National Fin.
Corp., I AD3d 850, 854 [3d Dept 2003]; Matter of RAM Hotels, Inc., Docket No. PR 08-078, at
p. 24 [October 11, 2011]). A petition must state "in what respects [the order on review] is
claimed to be invalid or unreasonable," and any objections not raised shall be deemed waived
(Labor Law § 101 [2]). The Labor Law provides that an order of the Commissioner shall be
presumed valid (id. § 103 [1]). The hearing before the Board is de nova (Board Rules [12
NYCRR] § 66.1 [c]). For the reasons discussed below, we affirm the order as issued against
petitioner.
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Petitioner Was the Claimant's Employer
We find that Oo is individually liable as an employer under Article 19 of the Labor Law.
"Employer" as used in Labor Law Article 19 means "any individual, partnership, association,
corporation, business trust, legal representative, or any organized group of persons acting as an
employer" (Labor Law § 651 [6]). "Employed" means "permitted or suffered to work" (Labor
Law§ 2 [7]). Like the New York Labor Law, the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (hereinafter
"FLSA") defines "employ" to include "suffer or permit to work" (29 USC 203 [g]), and the test
for determining whether an entity or person is an "employer" under the New York Labor Law is
the same test for analyzing employer status under FLSA (Bonito v Avalon Partners, Inc., 106
AD3d 625, 635 [1st Dept 2013]; Matter of Maria Lasso and Jaime M Correa Sr. and Exceed
Contracting Corp., Docket No. PR 10-182, at pp. 6-7 [Apr. 29, 2013], ajfd sub nom. Matter of
Exceed Contracting Corp. v Indus. Bd of Appeals, 126 AD3d 575, 576 [1st Dept 2015];
Ansoumana v Gristede 's Operating Corp., 255 F Supp 2d 184, 188 [SDNY 2003]; Chung v New
Silver Palace Rest., Inc., 272 F Supp 2d 314,319 n 6 [SDNY 2003]).
In Herman v RSR Sec. Servs. Ltd, (172 F3d 132, 139 [2d Cir 1999] citing Carter v
Dutchess Comm. College, 735 F2d 8, 12 [2d Cir. 1984] and Goldberg v Whitaker House Coop.,
366 US 28, 33 [1961]), the Second Circuit explained the "economic reality test" used for
determining employer status:
"[T]he overarching concern is whether the alleged employer
possessed the power to control the workers in question with an eye
to the 'economic reality' presented by the facts of each case. Under
the 'economic reality' test, the relevant factors included whether
the alleged employer ( 1) had the power to hire and fire the
employees, (2) supervised and controlled employee work
schedules or conditions of employment, (3) determined the rate
and method of payment, and (4) maintained employment records"
(internal quotations and citations omitted).
No one of these factors is dispositive; the purpose of examining them is to determine the
economic reality based on a "totality of circumstances" (id). Respondent determined that Oo
was Hidalgo' s employer based on Hidalgo' s statements that Oo supervised his work, paid his
wages and ran the daily operations at Tee Time. Oo's burden was to prove at the hearing that she
was not, as a matter of economic reality, Hidalgo's employer (State Administrative Procedure
Act§ 306 [1]; Labor Law§§ 101, 103; Board Rules [12 NYCRR] § 65.30; Garcia v Heady, 46
AD3d 1088, 1090 [3d Dept 2007]; Matter of Angello v National Fin. Corp., 1 AD3d 850, 854
[3d Dept 2003]; Matter of Jocelyne Wildenstein, Docket No. PR 15-269, at p. 5 [October 26,
2016]).
Based on the evidence in the record, we find it was reasonable and valid for respondent to
determine that petitioner was Hidalgo' s employer during the relevant period because Oo
"possessed the power to control" Hidalgo even if she was not the actual owner of Tee Time
(Herman, 172 F3d at 139). Oo provided general and conclusory testimony that she did not hire or
fire, pay Hidalgo wages, know when Hidalgo was paid, or know how workers were scheduled
and that Al handled such duties. Without corroborating evidence, we find this testimony is
insufficient to support petitioner's assertion.

PR 18-063

-7-

Oo testified that she was only a part-time employee of Tee Time during part of the claim
period, asserting that she was employed as a graphic designer from 2007 to 2010 until she left to
return to her country and then to pursue a different business. Oo, however, had no persuasive
documentary evidence to support this testimony. Oo and Khin both testified that there is no
evidence of the wages that Oo was paid as a part-time graphic designer for Tee Time because her
income was included in W-2s issued to Khin, though the W-2s do not include any reference to
Oo. She also did not provide any other record of her hours worked or wages earned, nor did she
call her and Hidalgo's purported employer, Al, to testify at the hearing, or any other employee
who worked under Al or Hidalgo during the relevant period. The franchise agreement is too
vague and, alone, insufficient to demonstrate that Oo was not an employer during 2011. The
franchise agreement states that Oo, as the franchisee, or the "[t]ranchisee's approved manager
shall operate the Food Service Counter on a full-time basis each day that the location where the
Food Service Counter is located is open for business." Oo, however, offered no specific evidence
supporting the hours she personally worked at the sushi store prior to purchasing the printshop
equipment in 2012. Even assuming such personal obligations did exist, Oo failed to provide any
specific evidence as to how such obligations would preclude her from possessing the power to
control Hidalgo as his employer during the relevant period. Oo' s unsubstantiated testimony
regarding her employment at Tee Time combined with her vague, unconvincing testimony that
she was employed elsewhere or earned little from 2010 until 2012 is insufficient to meet her
burden to prove that she was not Hidalgo's employer. Oo's credibility was further undermined
by her own testimony that despite having little earnings between 2010 and 2012 she was able to
purchase $20,000.00 worth of print shop equipment in 2012.
Khin's testimony was not relevant to the Herman test to determine if Oo was Hidalgo's
employer during the claim period. Khin did not work at the print shop for the entire claim period,
and he was outside of the country at medical school for some of the claim period. Khin testified
that he worked few hours each week and that he did not see Oo at the print shop very often, nor
would he see a lot of Hidalgo since Khin was mostly out making deliveries. He testified that he
never saw Oo and Hidalgo interact.
The testimony of Kuebler, Shamji and Mohammed was of little probative value in this
matter because they did not have personal knowledge about who supervised Hidalgo, who
controlled his work schedule or conditions of employment, who determined his rate and method
of payment, and who maintained employment records. Kuebler, Shamji and Mohammed
admittedly did not see Oo at the print shop much and none of them gave any testimony about the
relevant Herman factors. Kuebler testified that he never saw Oo and Hidalgo interact. Shamji
testified that he did not know who Hidalgo was. Mohammed worked at the shop on Saturdays for
about two months in 2009 but his testimony was that he reported to Hidalgo on those days. He
also testified that Oo was only there two times when he worked on Saturdays. Thus, Mohammed
also had no relevant knowledge of what, if any, interactions or relationship Oo had with Hidalgo.
While Kuebler, Shamji and Mohammed may have primarily dealt with Al in their interactions
with Tee Time, that does not inform us that Oo was not Hidalgo's employer. Even if true that Al,
and not Oo, owned Tee Time, that does not necessarily relieve Oo of individual liability as a
worker can have more than one employer (Ansoumana v Gristede 's Operating Corp., 255 F
Supp 2d 184, 189 [SDNY 2003 ]). An individual may be held liable as an employer if that
individual had the power to control employees, even if that control is only exercised occasionally
(See Moon v Kwan, 248 F Supp 2d 201, 237 [SDNY 2002]; Matter of Jagtar Singh, Docket No.
PR 14-245 at p. 8 [May 3, 2017]; see also Herman, 172 F3d at 139).
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Hidalgo gave relevant credible testimony that was consistent with his claim form. He
testified that Oo was his boss since the shop became Tee Time in 2004 or 2005. She paid him in
cash on Saturdays, set his schedule and was the person he called if he could not come to work.
Oo gave Hidalgo his assignments, including the print work and sending him to make deliveries.
His unrefuted testimony was that Oo was his employer when the print shop was in Long Island
City and when it was in Woodside and only the company name and location changed but
otherwise, his boss remained the same. Hidalgo also testified that he did not really know what
Al's role was at Tee Time because while he saw him around sometimes, he did not really know
what he did. Even if Oo was not the owner in fact of the print shop during the relevant period,
she had a supervisory role over Hidalgo and acted like Hidalgo's employer, which is sufficient to
hold her individually liable as Hidalgo's employer (See Matter of Jagtar Singh, Docket No. PR
14-245, at p. 8).
Applying the Herman factors to the instant case, we find that, under the totality of the
circumstances, Oo was Hidalgo' s employer as a matter of economic reality because Oo paid
Hidalgo his wages, set his schedule and supervised his work (Herman, 172 F3d at 139). We find
Oo failed to meet her burden to prove that she was not Hidalgo's employer. As such, the Board
affirms the respondent's finding that Oo was an employer.
Petitioner's Failure to Maintain Payroll Records
Article 19 of the Labor Law requires employers to maintain, for six years, certain records
of the hours their employees worked and the wages they paid them (Labor Law § 661 ). The
records must show for each employee, among other things, the number of hours worked daily
and weekly, the amount of gross wages, deductions from gross wages, and allowances, if any
(id.; Department of Labor Regulations [12 NYCRR] § 142-2.1 [a]). Employers must keep such
records open for inspection by the Commissioner or a designated representative or face issuance
of a penalty (Labor Law §§ 661 and 662 [2]; Department of Labor Regulations [12 NYCRR] §
142-2.1 [e]). In the absence of required payroll records, the Commissioner may draw reasonable
inferences and calculate unpaid wages based on the "best available evidence" drawn from
employee statements or other evidence, even if results may be merely approximate (Matter of
Ramirez v Commissioner of Labor, 110 AD3d 901, 901-902 [2d Dept 2013]; Matter of Mid
Hudson Pam Corp. v Hartnett, 156 AD2d 818, 820-821 [3d Dept 1989]).
Petitioner did not offer the legally required records of the days and hours that Hidalgo
worked, and the wages paid to him either at the investigative phase of this matter or at the
hearing before the Board. As such, the Commissioner's determination that petitioner failed to
maintain legally required payroll records was reasonable and valid.
The Wage Order Is Affirmed
Based on the record before us, we find that petitioner did not meet her burden to show
that she was not individually liable as the employer nor did she maintain legally required records
of hours worked and wages paid to Hidalgo. Petitioner did not introduce any evidence
challenging the wages in the order. The issue is thereby waived pursuant to Labor Law§ 101 (2).
As such, we affirm the wage order.
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Interest
Labor Law § 219 (1) provides that when the Commissioner determines that wages are
due, then the order directing payment of those wages shall include "interest at the rate of interest
then in effect as prescribed by the superintendent of financial services pursuant to section
fourteen-a of the banking law per annum from the date of the underpayment to the date of
payment." Banking Law § 14-a sets the "maximum rate of interest" at "sixteen per centum per
annum." Here, respondent correctly determined that Hidalgo was not paid all wages owed and
petitioner did not offer any evidence to challenge the imposition of interest. As such, we affirm
the interest in the wage order.
Liquidated Damages
Labor Law § 218 provides that when wages are found to be due, respondent shall assess
against the employer the full amount of the underpayment or unpaid wages and an additional
amount as liquidated damages, unless the employer proves a good faith basis for believing that
its underpayment or nonpayment of wages was in compliance with the law. Here, respondent
correctly determined that Hidalgo was not paid all wages and petitioner failed to offer any
evidence challenging the imposition of liquidated damages. As such we affirm the liquidated
damages in the minimum wage order.
The Civil Penalty is Affirmed
The minimum wage order includes a 100% civil penalty. Labor Law§ 218 (1) provides
that when determining an amount of civil penalty to assess against an employer who has violated
a provision of Article 19 of the Labor Law, respondent shall give:
"due consideration to the size of the employer's business, the good
faith basis of the employer to believe that its conduct was in
compliance with the law, the gravity of the violation, the history of
previous violations and, in the case of wages, benefits or
supplements violations, the failure to comply with record-keeping
or other non-wage requirements."
Bautista testified that civil penalties are assessed "based on the background information,
the size, the number of years, the participation, good faith, and so forth." Bautista did not testify
about the respondent's consideration of the statutory factors and the application of such factors to
this case to determine how much to assess in civil penalties. However, petitioner did not
introduce any evidence to challenge the civil penalty. As such, we are required to affirm the civil
penalty in the wage order (Labor Law§§ 101 [2]; 103 [1]).
The Civil Penalty for an Article 19 Violation Affirmed
Labor Law § 218 (1) provides that where a violation is for a reason other than an
employer's failure to pay wages, the order shall direct payment to respondent of a civil penalty in
an amount not to exceed $1,000.00 for a first violation. In this case, respondent assessed a
$2,000.00 penalty against petitioner for failure to keep and/or furnish true and accurate time and
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payroll records for each employee from on or about March 23, 2007 through April 13, 2012.
Bautista did not testify about how respondent determined $2,000.00 was the appropriate amount
to assess in a civil penalty, nor was there any documentary evidence in the record explaining
why the amount was $2,000.00. Yet, petitioner did not challenge the $2,000.00 Article 19 civil
penalty included in the order. Thus, we are required to affirm the penalty order (Labor Law §§
101 [2]; 103 [l]).

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED THAT:
1. The order to comply is and order are affirmed;
2. The petition for review is denied.

Molly Dohe
Chairperson
New York, New York

Michael A. Arcuri, Member
Utica, New York

1cia Kakalec, Member
New York, New York

New York, New York
Dated and signed by the Members
of the Industrial Board of Appeals
on September 11, 2019.
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